FILED

COA No. 303551

SEP 26 2012

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By_____

1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LISA BUHR,

Appellant,

v.

STEWART TITLE OF SPOKANE, LLC, and STEWART TITLE COMPANY,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MARY SCHULTZ

Mary Schultz Law, P.S. 2111 E. Red Barn Lane Spangle, WA 99031 (509) 245-3522

Attorney for Appellant

FILED

COA No. 303551

SEP 26 2012

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By_____

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LISA BUHR,

Appellant,

v.

STEWART TITLE OF SPOKANE, LLC, and STEWART TITLE COMPANY,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

1. Employee Lisa Buhr's disability required intermittent absences, but she remained capable of a productive 40-hour work week. Her Defendant employer Stewart Title acknowledged the disability, but refused to accommodate it. Was Stewart entitled to summary judgment dismissing Buhr's claim for failure to accommodate her disability?

1

2. Buhr intended to show the jury that she could perform her job with reasonable accommodation. But the trial court excluded the concept of reasonable accommodation from trial. The trial court instructed the jury that if Buhr was treated the same as other employees, no discrimination existed. Is Buhr entitled to retrial?

3. Discovery was just being initiated by both parties, and Stewart Title had failed to answer Buhr's requests for production. Buhr had been able to set only two depositions. The trial court terminated Buhr's access to discovery—seven months before trial—because Stewart Title didn't agree that Buhr's discovery could continue. Is Buhr entitled to remand for discovery and retrial?

4. After terminating Buhr's access to discovery, the trial court sanctioned Buhr's counsel for failing to provide supplemental discovery to Stewart Title. No supplemental discovery existed. Is Buhr's counsel entitled to have the sanctions vacated?

III. SUMMARY OF APPEAL

Disability discrimination in any form is premised upon the concept of reasonable accommodation—the duty of an employer to provide reasonable accommodation, and the right of a disabled employee to show they could perform the essential functions of their job with reasonable accommodation. Here, the trial court refused to guide the jury or instruct on the element of accommodation. When the defendant employer, Stewart Title, argued it had no duty to accommodate plaintiff employee Lisa Buhr's disability, the trial court granted Stewart summary judgment dismissal of Buhr's claim for failure to accommodate. When Stewart argued that Buhr had no right to show she could perform her job with reasonable accommodation, the trial court removed the accommodation element from the jury's consideration; it instructed the jury that if the disabled Buhr was treated exactly the same as any other employee, disability discrimination did not exist. These court's rulings and its instructions to the jury are contrary to law, and require reversal and remand for retrial.

Even before these rulings came to pass, the trial court had preemptively denied Buhr a fair trial. The trial court used its judicial discretion to deny Buhr her entitlement to access to civil rules discovery just as discovery was being initiated, and seven months before trial. It continued to enforce this order on Buhr, but it conversely sanctioned Buhr's counsel for not providing supplemental

3

discovery to Stewart, and granted Stewart discovery through trial, including an expert deposition and record production. Buhr was denied a fair trial, and her counsel improperly sanctioned for nonexistent discovery violations. This matter should be reversed and remanded for proper discovery and retrial.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Plaintiff Lisa Buhr filed claims for disability discrimination against her former employer, Defendant Stewart Title of Spokane, LLC, under RCW 49.60.180(2)(3) and 49.60.030(1)(a). *CP 20*. She alleged failure to accommodate and disparate treatment, including wrongful discharge. *CP 28-29*. Stewart acknowledged Buhr was disabled, and that it knew of her disabilities. *CP 40: 12-15;* CP 307:8-10.¹ Buhr also filed wage claims, and claims under FMLA. *CP 29-32*.

Discovery.

The trial court first terminated Buhr's right to obtain discovery seven months before her August 2011 trial. *CP 101*. Prior to the first January 10, 2011 discovery cut-off, Buhr moved to continue trial and to

¹ Buhr has sight disabilities and suffers from intermittent migraine headaches. *CP* 23, para. 5.10 - 5.12; *CP* 40: 12-24.

push back the discovery cutoff with it. *CP 88-89*. Discovery had been delayed, and depositions were just about to commence. *Id*. The parties had agreed to a trial date in August 2011—eight months away. *CP 88*. Stewart had gone through a myriad of counsel changes.² The parties had set only three depositions of material witnesses—all of them after the discovery cut-off. *CP 89: 7-10*. Completion of discovery had been problematic, and only two of the "primary participant" defendants had been set for depositions. *RP, Feb. 11, 2011, p. 6: 13-16*.

On Feb. 11, 2011, the trial court continued the trial date to August 8, 2011. *CP 101*. It then terminated Buhr's ability to conduct discovery effective January 10, 2011, except for the two primary depositions to which Stewart had agreed. *CP 101, 102*. The court held, "[C]ounsel are not in agreement relative to the discovery cut-offs." *CP 101*.

Following her allowed two depositions, Buhr moved for limited, but critical, discovery. *CP 104-107 (motion)*. Stewart had not produced initially requested alarm system records, employee time

2

Including CP 35 (Willert); CP 55 (Hesler); CP 58 (Stuart); CP 67 (King).

cards, or even evidence of Ms. Buhr's wages for dates in question. CP 105-06. Stewart had instead responded to interrogatory and production requests with objections. CP 149-50; and see CP 160-63 and CP 174-76 (both Defendants' interrogatory answers objecting to production on relevance grounds). Buhr argued such responses were improper, and sanctionable. CP 149: 21-26. She argued that disparate treatment and pretext discharge claims required comparisons between three categories of evidence-alarm records, time cards, and PIN numbers-to show systemic processes, and Stewart was refusing Buhr this evidence. CP 104-07; CP 148-54. The trial court denied Buhr's request for this specific discovery. CP 261. It self-selected one limited part of one of Buhr's requests relative to "pin numbers in alarm records," and ordered Stewart to provide only that information. CP 261. It denied her request for access to discovery. It ignored its earlier February rationale terminating Buhr's discovery because the parties "did not agree" to the discovery cut-off, and now concluded that Buhr had "agreed" to the early cutoff in January. CP 260.3 Buhr could not obtain the initial and

³ It found that defense counsel's declaration was "initialed by Ms. Schultz and provided the discovery cut-off would be closed." *CP 260*.

necessary evidence Stewart had refused her.

Stewart moved for summary judgment—the trial court dismissed Buhr's claim for failure to accommodate her disability. *CP 1966: 1-10.* It also dismissed her Washington Leave Act and public policy claims. *CP 1966.*

Trial commenced on Buhr's remaining disparate treatment/wrongful discharge disability discrimination claims and remaining wage claims on August 8, 2011. Stewart President Anthony Carollo acknowledged Stewart was starting a new office in Spokane, and that he contacted Buhr to offer her a job because of Buhr's reputation in the title industry, and her ongoing clientele. RP 148: 18-21: RP 156: 3-16.⁴ Carollo offered Buhr a position as a full-time associate, i.e., work of at least 40 hours per week. RP 209: 11 - RP 210: 2. Carollo knew that Buhr would be consistently absent from work during the day due to migraines associated with computer strain and having only a single eye. RP 212: 15-21; RP 227: 2-20. But in

⁴ Stewart employee Christianne Reid confirmed that if a particular employee is known in the industry, if those employees move, the clients will go with them. *RP 641: 10-14*. Buhr had one of those types of followings. *RP 641: 22-25*. Buhr was "very well known in the industry," and had a following of clients. *RP 637: 21-25*.

spite of such absences, Buhr brought quality clients, commercial real estate companies, and top producers to Stewart Title. *RP 1387: 2-5; RP 235:* 6 - RP 236. Buhr was productive, and was considered a good employee; she got her work done. *RP 226: 13-18*. Per Carollo, Buhr's absences never impacted her work performance, and she never fell behind with her clients. *RP 227: 2 – RP 228: 25*.

But Buhr's permanent medical condition resulted in ongoing absences during 8 a.m. - 5 p.m. work hours (as discussed at the time of her hire), and Buhr's absences were logged by Stewart as sick or vacation leave. *RP 1370-71*. Once Buhr used up her leave time, it was exhausted. *RP 1372: 14-17*. This was the policy for everyone else, and it was the policy for Buhr. *RP 1372: 18 – RP 1373: 1*. Buhr would necessarily run out of both sick and vacation time. *RP 261: 10-25; RP 264: 1-20*. Once Buhr's sick and vacation time were exhausted, if she didn't come in to work, she would not get paid, "as does any employee." *RP 264: 16-20*. Carollo testified: "That's the way it is with any employee." *RP 265: 18.*⁵

⁵ Buhr knew of no one else at Stewart with a medical condition that would necessarily result in absences. *RP 1373: 9-24.*

Carollo testified he made no effort to accommodate Buhr, or to discuss accommodation with Buhr, because "[T]he position doesn't allow that...," and "there was no ability to accommodate in that position." *RP 266: 11-20.* Carollo made no effort to talk with Buhr about working evenings, or putting her in a different position. If Buhr was out during the week, her work would be delegated to other employees. *RP 267: 22 – RP 268: 5.*

But from the outset of her employment, Buhr had always performed her work after hours and on weekends. *RP 1235: 19 – RP 1236: 1; RP 1246: 19 – RP 1247: 10.* Carollo acknowledged Buhr's work was performed primarily through computerized programs using microfilm, microfiche, and databases. *RP 162: 8 – 163: 16.* Employees often worked at night on transactions for the following day. *RP 168: 25 – RP 169: 2.* Title customers themselves could work around the clock. *RP 166: 25 – RP 167: 1.* Stewart staff could get calls at any point, including on weekends. *RP 167: 8-13; RP 172: 13-20.* Employees thus had 24-hour/7 day-a-week access to the building. *RP 172; 21-23.* Stewart simply required Buhr to use up her leave time if she were not in the office during the day. *See e.g. RP 264:16-20.* By July 2007, Buhr's sick and vacation time were nearly exhausted. *RP 1260: 15-23*. Carollo required Buhr to fill out FMLA leave paperwork. *RP 1260: 10-12*.

In September 2007, Carollo now told Buhr that if she was not in the office between 8:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m., she could not make up her time after-hours. *RP 1269: 3-8; RP 1270: 5-19*. If Buhr worked less than a 40-hour work week, time would be deducted from her salary. *RP 210: 15-17*. By September, Buhr's absences had not only used up her leave, but she was struggling with a new medication, and needed to make up time to "get in as close to 40-hours as I could." *RP 1270: 7-13*. Buhr asked Carollo for permission to work outside of 8-to-5 to achieve her hours. *RP 1270: 1-19*. Carollo denied Buhr permission. *RP 1270: 1-19*. Carollo knew that Buhr could not achieve a full-time work week under his conditions. *RP 274: 8-22*. Buhr told Carollo she could not complete her projects under such conditions. *RP 1269: 3-8*. Carollo told Buhr she would be required to delegate her work to others. *RP 270: 5-10; RP 274: 2-4*.

Carollo testified: "We don't guarantee 40 hours a week ... she ran out of sick time; she ran out of vacation time. She doesn't work, she doesn't get paid." *RP 271: 22-24.* Carollo testified: "We treated her the same as everybody else. I wouldn't allow any employees at that point, you know, at that discussion, to work hours outside of 8 to 5, and I didn't for her either ... we treated everybody the same." *RP 2012: 17-23.* No discussion ensued about flexible hours. *RP 2023: 25 – RP 2024: 1-2.*

The discharge.

Buhr went in to the Stewart office to work on Saturday, September 22, having been absent Wednesday and Thursday of that week. *RP 1282: 1-21*. She worked three hours, and wrote five hours down on her Saturday time card. *RP 1282: 25 – RP 1283: 3*. Two of the listed hours were lunch hours worked earlier that week. *RP 1283: 21- RP 1284: 3.*⁶ All Saturday hours listed were within Buhr's 40 hours per week. *RP 1285: 2-6*.

On Monday, Buhr told her immediate supervisor Scott Montilla she didn't have authorization for *any* of the hours and did not expect to

⁶ Buhr testified that Carollo wanted a certain presentation on his employees' time cards to show the corporate Stewart Title in Houston, so employees just "moved (their time worked) around." *RP 1245: 13 – RP 1246: 12.* Other employees confirmed this policy. *See, e.g., Christianne Reid* at RP 651-52; *Heather O'Hare* at RP 442-43; *Carrie Dove* at RP 470-71; *Andrea Kilgore*, RP 506-07.

be paid even though she had worked Saturday, and through those lunch hours that week. *RP 1283: 21 – RP 1284: 6.* Supervisor Montilla approved her card. *RP 1284: 18 - RP 1285: 1.*

At 4:30 p.m., that day, Carollo discharged Buhr. *RP 1287*. Carollo told Buhr she had stolen from the company, and was fired. *RP 1287: 11-14*. Carollo had reviewed Buhr's time card that morning, ordered alarm records, noted that Buhr had clocked in and out of the building in three hours, and discharged her for placing five hours on her time card—deciding such was theft. *RP 1287*.

Buhr was replaced by a non-disabled person. *RP* 725: 22 - RP 726:1.

In closing argument, Stewart argued its refusal to allow Buhr to work after-hours or on weekends was its treating her the same as it treated all other employees, and, as a result, it did not discriminate. *RP* 2241: 1-10. Stewart counsel argued "...[s]he was treated the same as Ms. Hurd and Ms. Dove. No difference. Treated the same. Exactly what she wanted. Never asked for anything different. You heard her testify; you heard the others testify." *RP* 2241: 21-25.

The jury entered a defense verdict. CP 2298-2300.

ARGUMENT.

1. <u>Reasonable accommodation must be provided to a disabled</u> employee, regardless of the nature of a disability claim.

Washington's Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) prohibits an employer from discriminating against any person in the terms or conditions of employment, or from discharging any employee because of the presence of any physical disability. *RCW* 49.60.180(2),(3); *RCW* 49.60.030(1)(a). The WLAD requires an employer to reasonably accommodate the physical limitations of a disabled employee, unless the accommodation would pose an undue hardship to the employer's business. *Frisino v. Seattle School Dist. No.* 1, 160 Wn.App 765, 777-778, 249 P.3d 1044 (2011). The scope of an employer's duty to accommodate is limited to those steps reasonably necessary to enable the employee to perform his or her job. *See e.g., Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc.,* 152 Wn.2d 138, 145, 94 P.3d 930 (2004), citing *Doe v. Boeing Co.,* 121 Wn.2d 8, 18, 846 P.2d 531 (1993). An employer's failure to reasonably accommodate a known disability constitutes disability discrimination. Dean v. Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle-Metro, 104 Wn.2d 627, 632, 708 P.2d 393 (1985).

A. <u>Stewart Title's claim that it had no duty to</u> <u>accommodate, and did not accommodate, did not</u> <u>entitle it to summary judgment on Buhr's failure-to-</u> <u>accommodate claim.</u>

i. Summary Judgment Standard.

Stewart moved for summary judgment, in part, on Buhr's failure-to-accommodate claim. *CP 300-02; CP 306-09*.

A motion for summary judgment presents a question of law reviewed de novo. *Frisino*, 160 Wn.App. at 776. When reviewing an order of summary judgment, the appellate court conducts the same inquiry as the trial court. Summary judgment is appropriate only when, after reviewing all facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, there are no genuine issues of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Frisino*, 160 Wn.App. at 776. Summary judgment is often inappropriate in discrimination cases because the WLAD mandates liberal construction. *Id.*, citing RCW 49.60.020. Evidence "will generally contain reasonable but competing inferences of both discrimination and nondiscrimination that must be resolved by a jury." *Id.* Whether a question of material fact exists depends on inferences drawn from the record. *Frisino*, 160 Wn.App. at 784. Buhr is entitled to all reasonable inferences from the evidence before the court at summary judgment. *Id.*

ii. <u>Buhr created an issue of fact as to whether</u> <u>Stewart Title provided her reasonable</u> <u>accommodation, and was entitled to trial on her</u> failure-to- accommodate claim.

To establish a prima facie case for failure to accommodate a disability and avoid summary judgment, Buhr had to show that: (1) she had a disability; (2) she could perform the essential functions of her job with or without reasonable accommodation; and (3) she was not reasonably accommodated. *Easley v. Sea-Land Service, Inc.*, 99 Wn.App. 459, 468, 994 P.2d 271 (2000); *and see Frisino*, 160 Wn.App. at 778.

Buhr met that burden. Buhr's disability was not disputed, nor was the existence of her notice to Stewart of her medical condition which would require absence from work. *CP 307: 8-10; CP 40: 12-24*. At summary judgment, Buhr thus had only the burden of showing that she could perform the essential functions of her job with reasonable accommodation. *Easley*, 99 Wn.App. at 468; *Frisino*, 160 Wn.App. at 778. She did so. She evidenced that, through flexible time, she could achieve her full 40 hours per week, and service her clients productively. *CP 1818, paras. 26-27.* She evidenced that such a schedule was reasonably available to Stewart, because Buhr had been on that schedule for months from the start of her employment. *Id.* Stewart simply insisted on exhausting her leave time for the hours missed during the day, instead of accepting flexible scheduling. *CP 307: 10-26.* Buhr thus showed that by the use of flexible hours, she could perform her job.

The burden now shifted to Stewart to show that this proposed (or continued) solution, or any other solution, was not feasible, or was an undue hardship on Stewart. *Wilson v. Wenatchee School Dist.*, 110 Wn.App. 265, 270, 40 P.3d 686 (2002), citing *Pulcino v. Federal Express Corp.*, 141 Wn.2d at 629, 643, 9 P.3d 787 (2000). Where disability and need for accommodation is obvious, the inquiry is not whether accommodation is needed, but rather, what kind of accommodation is needed. *Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 138,

148, 94 P.3d 930, 935-36 (2004). The employer's duty to provide accommodation requires it to try to find a solution which would allow Buhr to perform the essential functions of her job so as to avoid termination, and thereby allow Buhr to continue working indefinitely. *Frisino*, 160 Wn.App. at 777, 781. (The duty to accommodate is continuing—if one mode of accommodation is not effective, another must be tried). *Id.* at 781. "Reasonable accommodation" envisions a flexible interactive process between employer and employee. *MacSuga v. Spokane Cnty.*, 97 Wn.App. 435, 443, 983 P.2d 1167 (1999). It anticipates an exchange between the employee and employer to achieve the best match between the employee's capabilities and available positions. *Id. at 444*.

Stewart failed to meet its burden. Stewart President Carollo testified that he made *no* effort to accommodate Buhr, did *not* accommodate Buhr, and did not *intend* to accommodate Buhr. *CP* 458: 11-21, citing Plaintiff's Exhibit 55 (Carollo deposition) at p. 40: 2 - p. 41: 23. Carollo conversely considered it an "accommodation" by Stewart to allow Buhr to use her sick and vacation leave for her absences. *Id., p.* 40: 14-15. Carollo fully understood Buhr could not

work 8-to-5, five days a week, and could not achieve her 40 hours a week of full-time employment on such a requirement. *Pl. Ex. 55, p. 39: 17-22.* Carollo understood that Buhr could not physically work a straight 40-hour work week. *Pl. Ex. 55, p. 41: 6- 13.* Carollo offered Buhr no solution. Carollo testified: "We didn't make an effort to accommodate her needs." *Pl. Ex. 55, p. 40: 5-6, reiterated at p. 41: 14-23.*

As a result, when the burden shifted to Stewart to show it had tried to reasonably accommodate Buhr, Stewart failed to meet its burden. It provided no evidence it had attempted any form of accommodation. *See Carollo declarations at CP 291-94 and CP 1871-*73. Neither of Carollo's declarations filed to support summary judgment offer evidence of any effort to accommodate Buhr, or any recognition of that duty. The evidence was uncontroverted—no effort to accommodate had been made.

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