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

Even if Stewart Title of Spokane could be deemed to have provided Buhr with 
discretionary flex-time accommodation by allowing Buhr to work outside of 
normal business hours in response to her request to do so - satisfying her 
personal desire to make more money (andlor make up time missed) - in addition 
to the reasonable accommodation of unrestricted sick leave, Stewart Title of 
Spokane had the right to discontinue such a discretionary flex-time 
accommodation at any time. 

There is no requirement that an employer continue to provide an employee with 
any accommodations that extend beyond those that are reasonable, even where it 
has done so in the past. See, e.g., Phelps v. Optima Health, Inc., 251 F.3d 21 , 26 
(1st Cir. 2001) (finding the employer was not obligated to continue providing a 
job-sharing accommodation); Amadio v. Ford Motor Co., 238 F.3d 919,929-30 
(7th Cir. 2001) (finding the employer was "more than generous" in granting the 
plaintiff "numerous and extended leaves," but was not required to continue doing 
so). To hold otherwise, would discourage employers from granting discretionary 
accommodations beyond what is reasonable. Phelps, 251 F.3d at 26. 
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B. Plaintiff Was Not Entitled To Prove Reasonable 
Accommodation at Trial. 

Despite the dismissal of her accommodation claim at summary 

judgment, Buhr claims that the Court erred by restricting her presentation 

of evidence regarding accommodation and by failing to issue a jury 

instruction which included a reference to and definition of reasonable 

accommodation. 

1. Standard of Review. 

A trial court's admission or refusal of evidence lies within the 

discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent a 

showing of abuse of discretion. Norris v. State, 46 Wn. App. 822, 826, 

733 P.2d 231 (1987). 

Jury instructions should be considered III their entirety. 

Instructions are not erroneous if: (1) they permit both parties to argue their 

theory of the case; (2) they are not misleading; and (3) when read as a 

whole, they properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law. Easley 

v. Sea-Land Serv., Inc., 99 Wn. App. 459, 467, 994 P.2d 271 (2000). An 

erroneous instruction should not be reversed unless prejudice is shown. 

Id. Unless the error affects or presumptively affects the outcome of the 

trial, it is not prejudicial. Id. 
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2. Reasonable Accommodation Is Not a Necessary 
Element of Disparate Treatment Discrimination. 

It is well established that reasonable accommodation and disparate 

treatment are two distinct theories of disability discrimination. As stated 

by the Supreme Court of Washington, 

Under RCW 49.60.180, a disabled employee has a cause of 
action for at least two different types of discrimination. 
The employee may allege failure to accommodate where 
the employer failed to take steps reasonably necessary to 
accommodate the employee's condition. The employee 
also may file a disparate treatment claim if the employer 
discriminated against the employee because of the 
employee's condition. 

Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 138, 145, 94 P.3d 930 (2004) 

(quotations and citations omitted). (See also Appellant's Brief at 20 

(citing Becker, 128 Wn. App. at 84.) 

It is also well established that a theory of disability discrimination 

based on disparate treatment does not necessarily involve any Issues 

regarding reasonable accommodation. Becker, 128 Wn. App. at 85 

(stating the elements of disparate treatment without any mention of 

reasonable accommodation); Riehl, 152 Wn. 2d at 153 (same); (CP 472). 

In Plaintiffs Response Memorandum to Stewart Title of Spokane 

LLC Motion for Summary Judgment, she noted "Disparate Treatment 

means nothing more than a showing that the defendant treats certain 

groups differently because of their protected characteristic. (CP 471 
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(citation omitted).) Plaintiff further explained, "With disparate treatment, 

an employer simply treats some people less favorably than others because 

of their [protected characteristic]." (CP 471 (quotation omitted).) 

Plaintiff s accommodation claim was dismissed on summary 

judgment. In her remaining disparate treatment claim, Plaintiff alleged 

that (1) she was not allowed to work outside of business hours because of 

her disability, and (2) that her employment was terminated because of her 

disability. (CP 471, 472, RP 120, 123, 126,2192-2199,2209-2211.) 

The elements of Plaintiffs claims for disability discrimination 

were that she was: (1) disabled, (2) subject to an adverse employment 

action, (3) doing satisfactory work, and (4) discharged under 

circumstances that raise a reasonable inference of unlawful discrimination. 

Callahan v. Walla Walla Housing Auth., 126 Wn. App. 812,819-820, 110 

P .3d 782 (2005). Her ultimate burden was to produce enough evidence for 

a trier of fact to reasonably conclude that discrimination was a substantial 

factor for the adverse employment action. Hill, 144 Wn.2d at 186-87. 

Nonetheless, Plaintiff now claims that it "is implicit in WLAD's 

requirement that an employer provide accommodation as a premise to any 

assessment of disability discrimination" (Appellant's Brief at 21-22) and 

"The concept of reasonable accommodation cannot therefore be separated 
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from any disability discrimination claim" (Appellant's Brief at 21-22 

(emphasis added).) These assertions are disingenuous at best. 

Buhr's Brief cites Easley, 99 Wn. App. 459 and Riehl, 152 Wn.2d 

138 for the proposition that reasonable accommodation is itself an element 

of disparate treatment. Neither of the cases support Plaintiffs proffered 

proposition. 

Easley IS a reasonable accommodation case, not a disparate 

treatment case. 99 Wn. App. 459. In Easley, the plaintiff was not trying 

to prove reasonable accommodation as an element of disparate treatment. 

Rather, "Easley's theory of the case was that [his employer] failed to 

reasonably accommodate his disability" and his employer's theory was 

that "Easley could not perform the essential functions of his job and that 

he failed to prove [the employer did] not make a reasonable 

accommodation." Id. at 464. Thus, Easley has no bearing on Plaintiffs 

burden of proof in a disparate treatment case. 

Likewise, in Riehl, the plaintiff asserted both accommodation and 

disparate treatment claims, but the discussion of Riehl's disparate 

treatment claim made no mention whatsoever of reasonable 

accommodation. Riehl, 152 Wn.2d at 149-153. Riehl does not support 

Plaintiff s argument that reasonable accommodation cannot be separated 

from any disability discrimination claim. 
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Buhr complains that the jury instructions given could have allowed 

the jury to conclude that if Buhr was treated the same as everyone else, no 

discrimination existed, and that this is error. (Appellant's Brief at 29.) 

Even if it were true, it is not error in this case. 

Significantly, where a disabled person has been adequately 

accommodated, otherwise treating that person the same as everyone else is 

not discrimination. Doe, 121 Wn.2d at 20 ("identical treatment may be a 

source of discrimination only when the work environment fails to take into 

account the unique characteristics of the handicapped person"). In its 

dismissal of Plaintiffs reasonable accommodation claim, the trial court 

properly concluded that Stewart Title of Spokane had appropriately taken 

Buhr's unique characteristics into account. Thus, in Buhr's case, 

otherwise identical treatment could not be a source of discrimination, as 

Buhr claims. 

At trial, Buhr's claim for failure to accommodate had already been 

dismissed; the Court did not err by preventing Buhr from improperly 

injecting that theory back into the case. 

a. The Court Properly Instructed the Jury On 
Disparate Treatment. 

Plaintiff contends her argument that reasonable accommodation 

should have been included at trial is supported by the second element of 
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disability discrimination as stated in Washington's Pattern Civil Jury 

Instruction 330.32 and that the Court erred by not including instructions 

regarding reasonable accommodation. The opposite is true. 

Buhr mischaracterizes Washington's Pattern Civil Jury Instruction 

330.32. In fact, the second element of the instruction states that a plaintiff 

seeking to establish disability discrimination "has the burden of 

proving ... (2) That [he] [she] is able to perform the essential functions of 

the job in question [with reasonable accommodation]." WPI 330.32. 

However, the "note on use" ofthe instruction specifically states: 

Use the bracketed words as appropriate for the type of 
claim being made. Id. In proposition (2), use the bracketed 
phrase "with reasonable accommodation" and the definition 
of reasonable accommodation in WPI 330.34 if, in order to 
make a threshold showing of qualification for the position, 
the plaintiff must show that he or she could perform the 
job's essential functions with reasonable accommodation. 

Id. (emphasis added). Thus, the instruction explicitly contemplates 

that in cases where Plaintiff is not required to make a threshold showing 

of qualification for the position, it may not be appropriate to include 

instructions on reasonable accommodation. 

The general instructions for use of Washington's Pattern Civil Jury 

Instruction are also instructive: 

Use of pattern jury instructions-In general. The committee 
writes pattern jury instructions to assist the trial judge and 
the attorneys in preparing clear, accurate, and balanced jury 
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instructions for individual civil cases. Pattern instructions 
are examples that apply to a general category of cases, 
rather than an exact blueprint for use in every individual 
case. They provide a neutral starting point-not an ending 
point-for the preparation of instructions that are 
individually tailored for a particular case. Trial judges and 
attorneys must consider whether modifications are needed 
to fit the individual case. 
Sometimes, this process can . . . mean omitting language 
that does not apply to an individual case. The goal, always, 
is to finish with a set of instructions that clearly and 
accurately state the law that applies to the particular case, 
no more and no less. 

Bracketed language. Many of the pattern instructions 
include bracketed language. The brackets signify that the 
enclosed language mayor may not be appropriate for a 
particular case. . . . The judge and attorneys should 
carefully consider which terms should be included. 
Inclusion of terms that do not apply to the facts of a case 
could confuse the jury or inadvertently insert unintended 
issues into the case. 

WPIO.10. 

In this case, there was no dispute regarding Buhr's qualification for 

her position. (CP 472, RP 46-47, 1656-1657, 1663-1664.) Stewart Title 

of Spokane stipulated to her qualification and never argued or even 

implied that Buhr was unable to perform the essential functions of her 

position. (RP 46-47,1656-1657,1663-1664.) Stewart Title of Spokane's 

President admitted that he had no concerns about her performance; he 

regarded her as a productive employee. (RP 225-226,2101.) Buhr was 

not terminated for poor performance; she was terminated for falsification 
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of her timecard. (RP 2101.) As a result, the inclusion of the second 

element from Pattern Jury Instruction 330.32, particularly the bracketed 

words "with reasonable accommodation," and the definition of reasonable 

accommodation Plaintiff sought did not apply to Plaintiffs case. 

Instructions on reasonable accommodation were unnecessary, 

inappropriate and would have confused the jury in this case, which is why 

Plaintiff wanted them included. The trial court did not err by not 

including these instructions. 5 

5 Buhr attempts to analogize the Easley court's reasoning regarding jury 
instructions to this case to support her argument that the trial court should have 
instructed the jury on reasonable accommodation. But this analogy is flawed. In 
Easley, the defendant argued that there should be no instruction on undue 
hardship in Easley's failure to accommodate case because the defendant had not 
raised the issue of undue hardship. 99 Wn. App. at 468. The Easley court found 
that contrary to the defendant's assertions, undue hardship was an issue at trial, 
and cited to several instances on the record where defendant had raised the 
alleged hardship that the plaintiffs requested accommodation would cause. ld. 
at 468-69. The court also referenced the close relationship between the concepts 
of reasonable accommodation and undue hardship. ld. at 469-72. In conclusion, 
the appellate court determined that the trial court had erred by failing to include 
an instruction on undue hardship because the jury could have concluded that the 
accommodation would have presented undue hardship. ld. at 472. 

By contrast, in this case, Buhr argued that there should have been a jury 
instruction on reasonable accommodation so that Buhr could prove she was 
qualified for her position. (RP 1661.) Stewart Title of Spokane argued that there 
should be no instruction on reasonable accommodation because it presented no 
evidence or argument that Buhr was not qualified for her position. (RP 46-47, 
1656-1657, 1663-1664.) Buhr has cited no evidence or argument regarding 
Buhr's inability to perform the essential functions of her job. (See generally 
Appellant's Brief.) Moreover, unlike reasonable accommodation and undue 
hardship, the concept of reasonable accommodation is not necessarily connected 
to the concept of disparate treatment. See supra pp. 30-33. As a result, it is not 
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Buhr was permitted to argue her theory of the case-that she was 

not allowed to work outside of business hours because of her disability, 

and that her employment was terminated because of her disability. The 

jury was not misled by the instructions, and when read as a whole, they 

properly informed the trier of fact of the applicable law. The court's 

rulings with respect to the given jury instructions should be affirmed. 

b. The Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion in 
Admitting or Refusing Evidence on 
Accommodation. 

Buhr further complains that the Court granted Stewart Title of 

Spokane's Motion in Limine on Accommodation. (Appellant's Brief at 

24.) In fact, the Court amended its ruling before opening statements, 

denying Stewart Title of Spokane's Motion in Limine, but suggesting that 

counsel use the word accommodation "with an appropriate amount of 

circumspection so that there won't be any confusion with the dismissed 

claim." (RP 59.) 

To the extent the Court restricted any evidence on accommodation, 

it properly did so In order avoid confusing the jury. Plaintiff's 

accommodation claim had been dismissed. Allowing extensive 

questioning and testimony regarding accommodation in the legal sense 

reasonable to conclude that the jury's verdict could represent a finding that Buhr 
failed to prove she could perfonn the essential functions of her job. 
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would have confused and misled the jury. Any refusal by the trial court of 

evidence relating to reasonable accommodation was well within its 

discretion and should not be disturbed on appeal. 

C. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Denying 
Plaintiff's Motion to Allow Additional Discovery. 

Plaintiff contends in her brief that the court erred in denying her 

Motion to Allow Additional Discovery and asserts that because she was 

not able to conduct sufficient discovery any subsequent order granting 

summary judgment6 must be vacated and that remand for discovery and 

retrial is required. (Appellant's Brief at 31-35.) 

6 When a party requires additional discovery in order to respond to summary 
judgment, the proper way to request that evidence is through a CR 56(f) motion. 
A party must comply with CR 56(f) to preserve his or her contention that 
summary judgment should be delayed or denied on that basis. See MRC 
Receivables Corp. v. Zion, 152 Wn. App. 625, 628-29, 218 P.3d 621 (2009); 
Guile v. Ballard Comm. Hasp., 70 Wn. App. 18,24-25, 851 P.2d 689 (1993); 
Turner v. Kohler, 54 Wn. App. 688, 693-94, 775 P.2d 474 (1989). A contention 
by a party that she required additional evidence to respond to summary judgment 
cannot be successfully presented for the first time on appeal. See Id.; accord 
RAP 2.5 (permitting an appellate court to refuse to review any claim of error 
which was not raised in the trial court). 

Plaintiff never filed a CR 56(f) affidavit or otherwise indicated that she needed 
more time to gather facts to oppose Stewart Title of Spokane's summary 
judgment motion. Because Plaintiff failed to seek a continuance under CR 56(f) 
or otherwise indicate (even in the alternative) that she required additional 
evidence to respond to summary judgment, the trial court acted properly in 
hearing the motion on the basis of the showing before it. 
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1. Standard of Review. 

The decision to grant a continuance is at the discretion of the trial

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